#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-CA-01177

#### GLEN SOUTHERN, INC. AND GEM SOUTHERN, INC.

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS** 

v.

#### MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE** 

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE EDWIN H. ROBERTS, JR., CHANCERY JUDGE

# BRIEF OF APPELLANT GLEN SOUTHERN, INC.

ROY D. CAMPBELL, III (MBN MARGARET OERTLING CUPPLES (MBN BRADLEY ARANT ROSE & WHITE LLP Suite 450, One Jackson Place 188 East Capitol Street PO Box 1789 Jackson, MS 39215-1789 Telephone: (601) 948-8000 Facsimile: (601) 948-3000

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS GLEN SOUTHERN, INC. and GEM SOUTHERN, INC.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

For more than fifty years, beginning in 1952, Defendants-Appellants Glen Southern, Inc. and GEM Southern, Inc. (collectively, "Glen Southern") leased a facility in Marshall County, Mississippi from Plaintiff-Appellee Marshall County (the "County"), and operated the facility pursuant to a number of contracts and leases based on the contracts. The County contends that the contracts require the facility to be used only for manufacturing. But the contracts that contain such language limit the manufacturing-use restriction either to the primary term of the corresponding leases, or to the time period of Glen Southern's occupancy of the facility.

The sole issue presented by this appeal is whether the Chancery Court erred in construing the contracts to imply a requirement that the facility *always* be used only for manufacturing, regardless of the plain language of the contracts; and thus, whether the Chancery Court erred in denying Glen Southern's motion for summary judgment and granting the County's mirror-image motion on the same point.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Course of Proceedings in the Trial Court.

This case is a dispute over contract interpretation. Specifically, it concerns interpretation of a series of seven contracts and six related leases, entered into over a time period of more than 50 years. The parties to the contracts and leases are Plaintiff-Appellee Marshall County, Mississippi (the "County"), on the one hand, and Defendants-Appellants Glen Southern, Inc. and GEM Southern, Inc. (collectively, "Glen Southern"), on the other. Pursuant to the contracts and leases, beginning in 1952, Glen Southern built, operated, and leased a facility in Byhalia, Mississippi. *E.g.*, R. 98-99, R.E. 3-4.<sup>1</sup> The primary term of the last lease expired in 1990. *See* Ex. 6B at p. 5. In 1992, as permitted by contractual provisions, Glen Southern subleased the facility with the County's approval. Exs. 10, 11. A series of other subleases followed. Exs. 13, 15.

In May 2003, more than 50 years after the first contract was signed, the County filed this lawsuit in Marshall County Circuit Court, requesting that the leases be cancelled, and making other related claims. *See* R. 99, R.E. 4. In its amended complaint, the County made claims for breach of contract and for breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing. R. 73-81. Without reciting any damages that it alleged it had incurred as a result of the claimed breaches, the County requested neither monetary damages nor specific performance, but a more unusual

Finally, Glen Southern's Record Excerpts are cited as follows: R.E. \_\_\_\_.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the single volume of clerk's papers in the Record on Appeal are made in the following format: R. \_\_\_. Citations to the transcript of the May 30, 2006 hearing on Glen Southern's Motion for Reconsideration or For Other Relief (*see* R. 111-17) are made as follows: Tr. \_\_\_.

In addition to these portions of the Record on Appeal, the Record also contains copies of the exhibits to Glen Southern's Motion for Summary Judgment (primarily, these are the contracts and leases at issue). The exhibits are loose pages in an expandable envelope; they are not consecutively numbered, but the pages within each exhibit are numbered. Thus, the exhibits are cited according to the number of each exhibit, followed by a page number within that exhibit, so that, for example, page 2 of Exhibit 1A to the Motion for Summary Judgment is cited in the following format: Ex. 1A, p. 2.

remedy: that the Court *cancel* the contracts and leases, and grant the County immediate possession of the Byhalia facility. R. 78-80.<sup>2</sup>

Specifically, the County claimed that Glen Southern had violated the terms of their agreements by failing (1) to obtain the County's approval of an alleged assignment in 1992; (2) to obtain approval from the Mississippi Development Authority ("MDA")<sup>3</sup> for a sublease in 1997; (3) to remain qualified to do business and maintain a registered agent in Mississippi from 1993-2003; and (4) to operate the leased premises as "a factory for manufacturing" for a period of more than one year, "from January 2003 to the present". *See* R. 78-79 (Am. Complt. ¶ 13). The Chancery Court ruled against the County on all but the fourth claim, concerning whether the facility was required to be used only for manufacturing, and this appeal involves only that claim. R. 140 (Designation of the Issue on Appeal).

Glen Southern answered the complaint, R. 82-88, and moved to transfer the case to the Chancery Court of Marshall County, because the County sought equitable relief. R. 86. In May 2004, the Circuit Court entered an order transferring the case to the Chancery Court of Marshall County. *See* R. 99, R.E. 4. The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. *See* R. 100, R.E. 5; R. 9-18 (Glen Southern Mtn. for Summary Jmt.), R. 69-88 (Marshall Cty. Resp. to [Glen Southern] Mtn. for Summary Jmt., & Cross-Mtn. for Summary Jmt.).

In its motion for summary judgment, *inter alia*, the County asserted (1) that the contracts and leases require that the facility be used at all times *only* for manufacturing; and (2) that any use other than manufacturing triggers the abandonment provision under some of the contracts,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The County also requested "any other relief which the Court may find warranted . . . and which equity may justify . . . ." R. 80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> MDA was formerly known as the Mississippi Agricultural and Industrial Board, then the Mississippi Board of Economic Development, then the Mississippi Department of Economic and Community Development, before becoming the MDA. See R. 21 & n. 6. All are referenced herein as "MDA".

thus entitling the County to rescind the contracts and take possession of the facility. See R. 66 (County's Mtn. for Summary Jmt.); R. 80 (Am. Complt.; claim for possession of facility).<sup>4</sup>

Glen Southern pointed out in its motion that, contrary to the County's claim, the plain terms of the contracts at issue demonstrate, first, that any manufacturing use restriction was limited to the primary term of each lease or to the period when Glen Southern occupied the facility; and, second, that, in order for the premises to be "abandoned", they must have been empty and unused for at least one continuous year, which all parties agree has not occurred. *See* R. 12-15 (describing contracts, leases, subleases and substantially continuous occupancy of premises from 1952 to present).

On May 17, 2006, the Chancery Court issued an opinion granting the County's motion for summary judgment, R. 98-110, R.E. 3-15. The Opinion granted the County's motion *solely* on the basis of the Court's finding that Glen Southern had breached the contracts at issue "due to failure to maintain a manufacturing business at the Byhalia facility." R. 109, R.E. 14. The Court found for Glen Southern on all of the County's remaining claims. *See* R. 101-05, R.E. 6-10.

Glen Southern moved for reconsideration of the Court's order granting summary judgment for the County. Glen Southern argued that the Court's ruling had misinterpreted the contractual provisions concerning use of the facility for manufacturing. R. 111-12. The Court held a hearing on May 30, 2006 on the motion for reconsideration. Tr. 3-28. By Order filed June 30, 2006, the Court reaffirmed its May 17, 2006 Opinion granting summary judgment to the County. R. 123-24, R.E. 17-18. By separate order, also filed on June 30, 2006, the Court also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although the County alleges a breach of the contracts and requests a remedy for that breach, the County's Amended Complaint is entirely silent as to its actual damages. *See* R. 78-79 (Am. Complt.); *cf.*, *e.g.*, *Guinn v. Wilkerson*, \_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_, 2006 WL 3199610, at \*3 (Miss. Ct. App. Nov. 7, 2006) (citing *Favre Property Mgmt.*, *LLC v. Cinque Bambini*, 863 So. 2d 1037, 1044 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (elements of breach of contract claim are (1) a valid contract; (2) a breach of that contract by the defendant, and (3) "*money damages suffered by the plaintiff*" (emphasis added)). The County's Amended Complaint is silent as to monetary damages, and indeed, the County nowhere claims that it has not received all payments due under the contracts and leases.

directed the Chancery Clerk to cancel the leases and contracts and granted possession of the facility to the County. R. 122, R.E. 16.<sup>5</sup>

Glen Southern appealed from the Chancery Court's June 30, 2006 Orders on July 14, 2006. R. 125. The County did not file a cross-appeal. Thus, the only issue presented in this appeal is whether the Chancery Court erred in granting the County's motion for summary judgment (and denying Glen Southern's mirror-image motion) based on the County's claim that the contracts require that the facility be used for manufacturing purposes only, and that failure to use it in that manner constitutes an abandonment of the premises.

#### B. Statement of Facts.

#### 1. The initial contract for the Byhalia facility.

Beginning in July 1952, the County contracted with Glen Southern's corporate predecessor<sup>6</sup> to build, then later expand, and lease a commercial facility in Byhalia, Mississippi. R. 98, R.E. 3; *see* Ex. 1A, p. 1; *see also Gem Inc. v. United States*, 192 F. Supp. 841, 842 (N.D. Miss. 1961).<sup>7</sup> The initial construction, as well as a number of later expansions, were financed through bond issues under the statutory "Balance Agriculture with Industry" ("BAWI") program, legislation designed to spur economic growth in non-agricultural industries. *See* R. 98, R.E. 3. BAWI incentives, which were part of the development here, were designed to "promot[e] and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although the correspondence reflecting their agreement is not in the record here, the parties have agreed to a stay of the Chancery Court's order granting the County possession of the facility, and to suspend or escrow rental payments, pending the outcome of this appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Glen Southern began its corporate existence as Gem Incorporated, in 1952. In 1982, it changed its name to GEM Southern, Inc.; and in 1992, it changed to its current name, Glen Southern, Inc. See Ex. 7 pp. 15-17; Ex. 19 pp. 10-16. As the Chancery Court found, all are the same entity, see R. 101 ("The Court finds that this [change from GEM Southern, Inc. to Glen Southern] was just a name change, not a sale of the business"). All are referenced collectively herein as "Glen Southern". The County entity that negotiated and contracted with Glen Southern was the Third Supervisors District of Marshall County. E.g., Ex. 11, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Gem Inc. case, which discusses the facts surrounding the original lease, involved Glen Southern's successful appeal from a wrongful tax assessment. 192 F. Supp. at 841, 849.

develop[] commercial, industrial, agricultural, and manufacturing enterprises", *Board of Supervisors of Lamar Cty. v. Hattiesburg Coca-Cola Bottling Co.*, 448 So. 2d 917, 919 & n.2 (Miss. 1984), through issuance of municipal bonds to finance construction projects such as those involved here. *See* Miss. Code Ann. §§ 57-3-3 (1972); *and see generally* Miss. Code Ann. §§ 57-1-1 to 57-1-70 (1972) and §§ 57-3-1 to 57-3-33 (1972). Since about 1960, in addition to manufacturing, the program has promoted not only manufacturing projects, but a number of other enterprises, including "any enterprise for storing or warehousing products," research and development, and other commercial activities. Miss. Code Ann. §§ 57-3-5(2)(b) *through* (3) (1972).

In its original 1952 contract with Glen Southern, the County agreed to apply for \$100,000 of industrial development bonds to finance construction of a "factory building or buildings", which Glen Southern would build, lease, and operate "as a factory for manufacturing dust mops, wet mops and other yarn and textile products . . . during the period of the primary term" of the lease. Ex. 1A at §§ 4, p 2; 11(j), p. 8; *and* 11(m), p. 9. The "primary term" of the lease was 20 years. Glen Southern also had an option to renew for three additional 20-year periods, and one additional 19-year period. *Id.* at §§ 11(b), p. 2; *and* 11(n), p. 9; *see also Gem, Inc.*, 192 F. Supp. at 842.

#### 2. Expansions; new contracts and leases.

As its business grew over the years, Glen Southern expanded the facility five times, pursuant to separate contracts with the County in 1955, 1958, 1963, 1967, and 1969. R. 98, R.E. 3.<sup>8</sup> For each construction project, as with the initial one in 1952, each contract was followed by a lease. R. 98-99, R.E. 3-4. Glen Southern attached copies of the contracts and leases to its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Glen Southern also purchased, and owns outright, the property surrounding the facility on three sides; the fourth side is bounded by a railroad line. *See* Ex. 15 at p. 1 & Ex. 15, Exhibit A at p. 21 (showing real property owned by Glen Southern surrounding facility and railroad line abutting property).

motion for summary judgment, and the documents are included in the Record on Appeal as Exhibits 1A to 6B.<sup>9</sup> As finally developed, the facility comprises several hundred thousand square feet, all more or less under a single roof. *See*, *e.g.*, Ex. 15 at § 1.02, p. 1 (sublease to Hunter Fan; leased premises equal to 278,000 square feet); Ex. 15 at Exhibit B, p. 23 (map of buildings).

To the extent that there is any conflict between the leases and the contracts, the contracts control. *E.g.*, Ex. 1A, § 11, p. 5 (lease is "subject to" contract's "terms and conditions"); Ex. 1B, § 1, p. 1 (contract is incorporated into lease by reference, "as if copied" therein).

Consistent with the BAWI statutes, each contract specified that the County would recoup its costs associated with the construction – such as costs to purchase the real property, for architects' and engineers' fees, and to issue the bonds used to finance the project – through lease payments made by Glen Southern during the primary term of each lease. *E.g.*, Ex. 1A, § 11(c), pp. 5-6; *Gem Inc.*, 192 F. Supp. at 842 ("maturity schedules and rental payments were so arranged [by the parties as to] . . . completely pay and retire the bonds and the interest coupons thereon" during the primary lease term); *see Hattiesburg Coca-Cola*, 448 So. 2d at 918 (describing similar financing and repayment arrangement).

Until the bonds were repaid, the State of Mississippi, through the MDA, was empowered to supervise the leases. Once the primary term of each lease expired, and the County thus had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The contracts and leases are dated as follows:

July 11, 1952 contract (Ex. 1A), with corresponding lease entered February 1, 1954 (Ex. 1B); January 14, 1955 contract (Ex. 2A), with corresponding lease entered March 13, 1957 (Ex. 2B); April 7, 1958 contract (Ex. 3A), with lease dated December 12, 1977 (Ex. 3B); July 22, 1963 contract (Ex. 4A), with lease dated December 12, 1977 (Ex. 4B); Two 1967 contracts, dated May 29, 1967 (Ex. 5A-1) and November 13, 1967 (Ex. 5A-2), with lease dated December 12, 1977 (Ex. 5A); and August 5, 1969 contract (Ex. 6A), with lease dated December 12, 1977 (Ex. 6B).

See R. 98-99; Exs. 1A-6B.

recovered its costs through the lease payments, the need for MDA's supervision ended. *E.g.*, Ex. 5A-1, § 7(c), (d), at pp. 6-8; Ex. 5A-2,  $\P$  2, pp. 11-12.

Under these contracts and the associated leases, Glen Southern operated its manufacturing business at the Byhalia facility for nearly 50 years. The primary term of the final lease expired in 1990. *See* R. 34 *and* Ex. 6B at p. 5 (primary term of 1977 lease, entered pursuant to 1969 contract, is "20 years from October 1, 1970").

#### 3. Subleases to E.D. Smith, Havatampa, and Hunter Fan.

In 1992, two years after the primary term of the sixth and final lease between Glen Southern and the County expired, *see* R. 34 *and* Ex. 6B at p. 5, Glen Southern subleased the premises to E.D. Smith-Gem, Inc. ("E.D. Smith") for a ten-year period. Ex. 10. The County approved the E.D. Smith sublease, and submitted it to MDA for approval (which MDA granted). *See* Exs. 11, 12. The sublease essentially removed *any* restriction on the use of the facility; it stated that E.D. Smith may use the premises "only for the *warehouse and/or* manufacture of food and health and beauty aids, *or for any other lawful purpose*...." Ex. 10, § 15.01, p. 18 (emphasis added). Glen Southern was required to consent to any uses that involved hazardous substances or uses that would create a nuisance. *Id.* 

Before E.D. Smith's sublease expired, E.D. Smith sold its assets to Havatampa, Inc. ("Havatampa"). Consequently, in 1996, Glen Southern and Havatampa entered into a sublease which was substantially identical to the E.D. Smith sublease. It likewise permitted Havatampa to use the facility for warehousing, manufacturing, or any other lawful purpose.<sup>10</sup> Ex. 13, § 15.01, p. 17. When the Havatampa sublease expired in 1992, Havatampa continued to sublease the premises on a month-to-month basis, until June or July 2003, when it vacated the premises. Ex. 17, ¶ 4. Thereafter – and *after* this lawsuit was filed in May 2003 – Glen Southern entered into a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The County approved the Havatampa sublease, but did not submit it to the MDA for approval. Ex. 14.

similar sublease with Hunter Fan, which continues to use the facility for warehousing. R. 99, R.E. 4 (suit filed in May 2003); Ex. 15, § 15.01, pp. 1, 13, 19 (Hunter Fan sublease, including description of permitted warehousing and "light assembly" uses; executed June 19, 2003).

# 4. Specific provisions of the contracts and leases regarding continuous manufacturing use and abandonment.

Specific provisions of several of the contracts and leases are central to the County's claims and to Glen Southern's defenses. The County's claim, in simplest terms, is that Glen Southern's failure to use the premises for "manufacturing" for a period of more than one continuous year somehow is equivalent to an "abandonment" of the premises, thus entitling the County to terminate the contracts, cancel the leases, and take possession of the facility. *See* R. 71, ¶ 4 (County's Cross-Mtn. for Summary Jmt.; "Defendant Glen Southern has failed to operate the Byhalia facility for manufacturing purposes for over one continuous year, as required by certain of the contracts. Such failure constitutes a material breach and justifies termination and cancellation of the contracts and leases."). This claim – based on a mistaken construction of the contract language – incorrectly combines separate contractual terms (1) describing the business enterprises for which the facility may be used and (2) defining "abandonment" of the premises. That language therefore bears emphasis and some detailed discussion.

#### a. The 1952 contract.

The initial, 1952 contract contains a specific provision regarding the uses to which Glen Southern may put the facility, and the time period during which that use restriction will apply.

# m. The Company [Glen Southern] agrees ... that it will operate said premises during the period of the primary term herein provided for the manufacture of some such product suitable to the Company.

Ex. 1A, § 11(m), p. 9 (emphasis added). The "primary term" is defined as twenty years from the date that Glen Southern takes possession of the premises. *Id.* at § 11(b), p. 5; *see also* Ex. 1B, § 3, at p. 2 (primary term of lease is for twenty years from the first day of November, 1953, that

being the first day of the month following the date of Glen Southern's taking possession of the facility). The primary term of the 1952 lease, therefore, ended in 1973.

The following sentence – a separate provision – defines "abandonment" of the premises, and the consequences of abandonment:

With the express provision that if the Company [Gien Southern] should abandon said premises and fail to use or operate them for a period of one continuous year ... then at the option of the County this agreement may be terminated without further liability to either party.

Ex. 1A, § 11(m), p. 9 (emphasis added). In other words, the 1952 contract – on which all the later ones are based – provides that the facility is intended to be used for manufacturing, but only *during the primary term of the original lease* – *i.e.*, until 1973. And, it separately defines abandonment: if, at *any* time, either during the primary term or thereafter, the facility is abandoned, *i.e.*, not "use[d] or operate[d]" for "one continuous year", then the County may cancel the contract. *Id*.

# b. "Manufacturing use" restrictions – or lack thereof – in subsequent contracts.

Absolutely no restriction concerning the uses to which the facility may be put appears in the second, third, or fourth contracts, entered in 1955, 1958, and 1963. Exs. 2A, 3A, 4A.<sup>11</sup> In 1967, the parties entered into two new contracts. Exs. 5A-1, 5A-2. Not surprisingly, the first of these contains several miscellaneous references to Glen Southern's current use of the premises' "factory building" for its "manufacturing operation". After all, these contracts were entered into during the primary term of the original contract (pre-1973), at a time when the original manufacturing-use restriction was still in place. *See* Ex. 1A, § 11(m), p. 9; *id.* at § 11(b), p. 5;

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