IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-CA-01177

GLEN SOUTHERN, INC., AND GEM SOUTHERN, INC.

APPELLANTS

VS.

MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED)

SUBMITTED BY:

KENT E. SMITH (MSB # JUSTIN S. CLUCK(MSB # SMITH WHALEY, P.L.L.C. ATTORNEYS AT LAW Post Office Drawer 849 Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635 Telephone: (662) 252-3003 Facsimile: (662) 252-3006

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2006-CA-01177

GLEN SOUTHERN, INC., AND GEM SOUTHERN, INC.

APPELLANTS

VS.

MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

1

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

2

Α. Correct.

Okay. How many employees do you have just at the GEM facility? Q.

А. We have six employees.

Q. A. Six?

Six employees.

Six full time employees in the Gem building? Q:

А. Correct.

Those are not seasonal employees, and those are six full time Hunter Fan employees? Q.

Not only is Glen Southern's abandonment of manufacturing contrary to the terms of the contracts themselves and contravenes the purpose of the BAWI Act, but it is also patently unconstitutional. Any such contractual agreement which provides economic benefits to a private corporation at the expense of the public, essentially taxing the people of Mississippi for a private purpose, is expressly prohibited by section 183 of the Mississippi Constitution:

No county, city, town, or other municipal corporation shall hereafter become a subscriber to the capital stock of any railroad or other corporation or association, or make appropriation, or loan its credit in aid of such corporation or association.

Section 183 of Mississippi Constitution. <u>See also Albritton v. City of Winona</u>, 178 So. at. 809 ("it is well settled in this state that taxes cannot be levied for private purposes."). The bond issues and tax breaks were provided to Glen Southern with the express understanding, as evidenced by the language of the contracts and lease agreements, that it would benefit the indigent or unemployed of Marshall County. These public monies must be spent in furtherance of their public purpose, otherwise the tax incentives become unconstitutional. "No persons are entitled to be supported at the public expense . . . [t]o allow money to a private person or organization, to be dispensed according to the will and judgment of such private person, uncontrolled by law, would be to take the taxpayer's property without due process contrary to section 14 of the state Constitution, and the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States." <u>Miller v. Tucker</u>, 105 So. 774, 780-781 (Miss. 1925).

Even if this Court finds that the BAWI Act does not provide any authority for incorporation of a manufacturing use restriction, the express terms of the contracts create a contractually binding use restriction in that they all reference the 1952 contract which obligates Glen Southern to use the premises for manufacturing. However, should this Court determine that the contracts are ambiguous, the actions of the parties clearly evidence an intent to create a

binding restriction, or affirmative covenant controlling the use of the Byhalia facility. When an agreement is ambiguous, the Court must "look to the construction which the parties have placed upon it in order to ascertain its true meaning." <u>Delta Wild Life & Forestry, Inc. v. Bear Kelso</u> <u>Plantation, Inc.</u>, 281 So.2d 683, 686 (Miss. 1973). "What the parties to a contract consistently do thereunder is evidence of what the contract between them required that they should do." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Goldberg v. L.H. Realty Corp.</u>, 86 So.2d 326 (1956)). If the actions of the parties are to be the measuring tape for discerning the intent of the parties, then there is no dispute about the

following factual account regarding the actual use of the premises:

(1) the original purpose of the contracts was to build a facility to manufacture of products derived from agricultural goods (App. Brief in Chief, p. 21);

(2) at the time the parties executed each contract Glen Southern actually was using and did use the premises for manufacturing (App. Brief in Chief, p. 21);

(3) Glen Southern and its sub-lessors in fact used the facility for manufacturing during the entire period of its occupancy of the premises. (App. Brief in Chief, p. 12, n. 12.);

(4) in 2003 Glen Southern entered into a sublease with Hunter Fan who never intended to use the facility for manufacturing (App. Brief in Chief, p. 9-10);

(5) when Hunter Fan signed the sublease it understood that the Master Lease required the premises to be used solely for manufacturing (Ex. 16, p. 28, 36); and

(6) when Glen Southern ceased using the facility for manufacturing and informed Marshall County of the same, Marshall County, sought to terminate the lease.³ (App. Brief in Chief, p. 9-10).

³ Glen Southern argues that Marshall County actually filed suit before the sublease with Hunter Fan was signed. However, an engineering inspection was done in March of 2003 for Hunter Fan, and Glen Southern actually informed Marshall County of its intent to abandon the premises before March of 2003. The instant lawsuit was not filed until May of 2003, well after Marshall County sought assurance from Glen Southern that it would continue to use the leased premises for its intended purpose, but received no such assurance. Ex. 16, p. 27-29. It is a well understood maxim that when a party seeks assurance that a contract will be performed according to its terms and conditions, it is entitled to such assurance and in the absence thereof, may seek to cancel the contract and seek damages.

Accordingly, "it is evident from the acts of the parties themselves covering many years that they contemplated" the leased premises were to be used for manufacturing. <u>Delta Wild Life &</u> <u>Forestry, Inc.</u>, 281 So.2d at 686. Only after Glen Southern failed to give reasonable assurances of continued manufacturing operations did Marshall County seek cancellation of the contract. If the contract is indeed ambiguous, then the actions of the parties in continually renewing these contracts and leases over the past fifty years, and Marshall County's subsequent termination of the contract in 2003, prompted only by Glen Southern's cessation of manufacturing operations that year, clearly manifests the parties intent to create a permanent occupancy use restriction.

The parties' actions seem to be at least of one of the factors considered by the Chancellor when he granted Marshall County's motion for summary judgment:

The parties intent from the first contract and in the subsequent contracts was that the use of this property and facility for manufacturing purposes and to bring jobs to Marshall County, Mississippi. In so doing, the property was consistently used in that way for 50+ years until 2003, when it was begun to be used as a warehouse shortly before the filing of this lawsuit. This Court is left with the reasonable conclusion that the parties intended to provide a tax payer subsidized method for providing jobs as a result of a manufacturing operation. This Court does not find that it is reasonable to glean that the intent of the parties was to construct a warehouse facility through tax incentives that would provide little or no economic job benefit to the citizens and tax payers of Marshall County.

(R. 124). Given the parties' performance of the contracts over the years, the Chancellor was manifestly correct in granting summary judgment in favor of Marshall County.

D. The Proper Remedy Under the Contract was Cancellation or in the Alternative, Any Agreement Permitting Use of the Premises for Activities Other Than Manufacturing is Void Pursuant to Public Policy and the Mississippi Constitution.

Glen Southern next takes issue with the Chancellor's cancellation of the contract and lease arguing that the premises were never abandoned and that cancellation is not a proper remedy. Glen Southern's argument is based upon its own belief or opinion that "as long as the premises are used for something there is no abandonment." (R. 33). This argument is directly contrary to the express provisions of the contracts and leases which specifically state that the Byhalia facility is to be used for manufacturing only. Accordingly, the term "abandonment" while not specifically defined in the contract must be read to comply with the purpose of the contract, which was to prevent the lessee from using the premises in a manner inconsistent with the BAWI Act. Thus, the one-year abandonment clause clearly applies to the cessation of manufacturing activities. Following Glen Southern's argument, as long the premises could be used for any imaginable purpose, whether such use is contemplated by the leases or not, Glen Southern would never be required to vacate the premises under any circumstances. However, Glen Southern's argument, incorporating only choice provisions of the abandonment clause, (section "m" of the initial 1952 contract) while ignoring the full text, must be read together and as one fully incorporated provision:

m. The Company agrees that as promptly as is reasonably possible with due diligence after delivery to it of possession of the premises it will complete the installation of such additional machinery and equipment as it shall deem necessary to the operation of a factory for the purpose of manufacturing dust mops, wet mops, and other yarn and textile products of cotton or other fibre as it may see fit, and further agrees that it will operate said premises for the manufacture of some such product suitable to the Company. With the express provision that if the Company should abandon said premises and fail to use or operate them for a period of one continuous year except such temporary cessation as may be caused by matters not within the control of the Company, such as damage, strikes, and force majeur, then

at the option of the County this agreement may be terminated without further liability to either party. (emphasis added)

Ex. 1A, p. 9

When section "m" is read in its entirety, the conditions constituting abandonment of the

premises are clear: Glen Southern is obligated to "operate said premises for the manufacture of

some such product suitable to the Company" but, "if the Company should abandon said

premises" "this agreement may be terminated."

In addition to the abandonment clause in the 1952 contract, the 1969 contract also

contained an express abandonment clause:

The Company agrees with the express provision that if the Company should abandon and fail to use and operate them for a period of one (1) continuous year except such temporary cessation as may be caused by matters not within the control of the Company, such damage, strikes, and force majeur then **at the option of the County this agreement may be terminated without further liability to either party.** (emphasis added)

Ex. 6A, p. 21

When read as intended, by incorporating all termination provisions of the 1952, 1955, 1958, 1963 and 1967 contracts, the 1969 contract specifically contemplates cancellation of the contracts and leases as was ordered by the Chancellor.

Glen Southern readily concedes that no manufacturing operations have taken place in the Byhalia facility since January 2003. Accordingly, the premises have not been used for the purpose contemplated by the contracts and leases for over four (4) years as of the filing of this brief. Further, Glen Southern has presented testimony at the trial court level showing that it has absolutely no intention of returning manufacturing operations to the Byhalia facility should the leases be reinstated. (R. 39). Cancellation was therefore completely appropriate pursuant to the termination clauses agreed to by the parties. Marshall County next submits that even if this Honorable Court finds that cancellation was not an appropriate remedy, any lease agreement permitting anything other than manufacturing, whether approved by the parties or not, is void pursuant to public policy and the Mississippi Constitution. The Mississippi legislature, when passing the BAWI Act, did not intend county governments to issue bonds and create tax incentives if the funds gained from the Act were not used for operating manufacturing facilities and to promote employment. Accordingly, Marshall County could not have lawfully entered into a private contract under the BAWI Act except to promote employment in the manufacturing industry. <u>See Albritton v. City of Winona</u>, 178 So. 799 (Miss. 1938). In fact, the Court in <u>Albritton</u> actually contemplated this same scenario by recommending the incorporation of a "use restriction" clause in BAWI leases which, upon abandonment of the premises, would operate to terminate the lease:

[T]he Mississippi Industrial Commission will take care that the provisions of the leases will meet the requirements of the statute. If they do not, the leases will be void. It may not be amiss, however, to say that one effectual method for preventing the lessee from holding the property without carrying out the purposes for which it was acquired would be to insert in the lease a clause setting forth the character and capacity of the proposed industry, and providing for the termination of the lease if the lessee fails within a specified time to equip and operate the industry as described in the lease or discontinues for a specified time thereafter to so operate it.

Id. at 808.

Thus, under <u>Albritton</u> there is both an implied obligation to operate the premises for a BAWI public purpose, and legal authority for manufacturing use restrictions to ensure the same. Marshall County's termination of the contract and lease is valid under either maxim.

In support of its argument against cancellation of the lease, Glen Southern cites

Independent Healthcare Mgt., Inc., v. City of Bruce for the proposition that even when a lessor

has a public interest in continuing restricted use of a property, it cannot cancel the lease for

failure to operate the premises for that public use, unless there is clear language regarding such in the contract. As referenced above, the contracts between Glen Southern and Marshall County specifically require the Byhalia facility be used only for manufacturing. However, in making this point, Glen Southern omits the most relevant portions of the Court's holding in <u>City of Bruce</u>, which ultimately held that the lessor, while not breaching a covenant to operate an emergency room, did breach its affirmative duty to continue operation of a hospital, thereby permitting cancellation of the lease. <u>Independent Healthcare Mgt., Inc., v. City of Bruce</u>, 746 So.2d 881, 888-889 (Miss. App. 1999). When read in its entirety, the <u>City of Bruce</u> actually supports Marshall County's position that Glen Southern had a duty under the lease to operate a manufacturing facility by providing a well reasoned opinion outlining the distinction between "use restrictions" and "affirmative covenants" in lease agreements. The Court differentiated between a "limitation on the lessee's permissible scope of activity on the premises" and an "affirmative covenant to maintain a particular activity" by giving the following example:

A tenant who, for example, covenanted to limit his activities to operating a commercial warehouse would be in default if he attempted to operate a restaurant, but would not typically be deemed in default if he temporarily ceased his business activities altogether so long as he remained current on his lease payments and faithfully performed all obligations under the lease.

<u>Id</u>. at 886-887. The Court reasoned that "unlike the typical lessor, the City did have an interest, not only in limiting its lessee to certain specific activities, but also in seeing that its lessee did, in fact, carry on those contemplated activities." <u>Id</u>. This example is analogous to the lease agreement in the matter at bar which may, under the reasoning applied in the <u>City of Bruce</u>, be more aptly characterized as an affirmative covenant to maintain a manufacturing facility on the leased premises in order to promote job growth and economic expansion. Accordingly, when

Glen Southern covenanted to limit its activities to manufacturing, but instead used the Byhalia facility for warehousing, it was in default under the terms of the contract.

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